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NATURE AND STAGE OF PROCEEDINGS

On April 16, 2013, following a six-day trial, a New Castle County
Jury convicted Sirron Benson (hereinafter “Benson”) guilty of Murder First
Degree and Possession of a Firearm During the Commission of a Felony in
connection with the July 3, 2011 shooting death of Braheem Curtis. On June
21, 2013, following a Pre-Sentence Investigation, Benson was sentenced to a
term of life imprisonment as to Murder First Degree and twenty years at
Level V to be served consecutively as to Possession of a Firearm During the
Commission of a Felony.

Benson’s former counsel timely filed a Notice of Appeal and
subsequent brief and motion to withdraw pursuant to Delaware Supreme
Court Rule 26(c). A copy of former counsel’s brief and a solicitation for
issues for the Court to consider was provided to Benson who submitted two
arguable issues to be appealed. The State timely responded to prior
counsel’s 26(c) Opening Brief. The Court considered the submissions of
Benson’s former counsel, Benson and the State and found that the record
was not completely devoid of at least arguable issues to be presentgd on

appeal.  Accordingly, the Court granted former counsel’s motion to



withdraw and appointed new counsel. This is Benson’s Opening Brief on

appeal.



I1.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

IT WAS PLAIN ERROR FOR THE TRIAL JUDGE NOT TO ISSUE
A CURATIVE INSTRUCTION SUA SPONTE WHEN THE
PROSECUTOR, IN HIS REBUTTAL SUMMATION STATED
THAT BENSON’S INTENT TO CAUSE DEATH COULD BE
INFERRED FROM THE WEAPON USED TO PERPETRATE THE
CRIME.

THE TRIAL JUDGE COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY
FAILING TO GIVE A CAUTIONARY INSTRUCTION RELATING
TO THE UNCORROBORATED TESTIMONY OF AN
INFORMANT WITNESS WHO WAS RECEIVING A BENEFIT
FROM THE STATE IN EXCHANGE FOR HIS TESTIMONY.



STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 3, 2011, people were congregating outside in the area of
Ninth and Kirkwood Streets on the east side of Wilmington. (A14). They
were conversing with one another and lighting off fireworks in anticipation
of the upcoming July Fourth holiday. (A14). Among those gathered were
Appellant Sirron Benson (“Benson’); decedent Braheem Curtis (hereinafter
“Curtis”); Donnie Stephens; Barbara Stephens; Shirl Williarﬁs; and Shelly
Cannon. In the midst of the fireworks being set off, an argument erupted
between Benson and Curtis. (Al4 — Al5). In the course of the argument,
Benson told Curtis that stop with the fireworks or else he would go and
“get [his . ..] gun.”(AS1).

Following the argument, Benson, who was wearing blue jeans and a
white t-shirt, left the area walking up Ninth Street toward his residence.
(AS51). Benson’s argument with Cuftis and his departure was observed by
numerous bystanders who were also gathered nearby. (A15). Shortly after
leaving the area, Benson returned, raised his arm and fired a single shot at
Curtis causing him to fall to the ground. (A64). Benson continued walking
toward Curtis and fired a second shot at him while he lay on the ground.

(A64). After firing the second shot, Benson continued walking up Ninth



Street toward Lombard Street where he discarded the weapon. (A68).
Robin Unthank, who resides at 810 Lombard Street, reported to police that
she observed an individual wearing blue jeans and a white t-shirt run past
her residence and throw a black object that appeared to be a gun up onto the
roof. (A68). Unthank’s report came in shortly after the reported shooting of
Braheem Curtis. (A68). Sergeant Hauk of the Wilmington Police
Department responded and recovered a .45 caliber Ruger Blackhawk
revolver from the roof of Unthank’s residence. (A70 — A71).

As Benson and Curtis argued, a bystander had called 911 to complain
about fireworks. (AS58). A patrol unit was dispatched to respond to the
fireworks complaint. Immediately after the shooting, a bystander flagged
down an officer who was on patrol and reported the shooting at Ninth and
Kirkwood. (A20). Officer Malloy of the Wilmington Police Department
arrived on scene to find Braheem Curtis lying on the ground, unresponsive,
and suffering from an apparent gunshot wound to the chest. (A20). Officer
Malloy provided first aid until Emergency Medical Services arrived. (A21).

Upon arrival, Emergency Medical Services loaded Curtis into an
ambulance and transported him to Christiana Hospital where he was later

pronounced dead from a gunshot wound to the chest. While undergoing



treatment at Christiana Hospital, a single projectile was recovered and turned
over to the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner. (A26). Upon being
pronounced, Curtis’ body and personal effects were transferred to the Office
of the Chief Medical Examiner where an autopsy was conducted. (A100).
In the course of the autopsy, a second projectile was recovered from Curtis’
chest cavity. (A112). The Medical Examiner’s autopsy revealed Curtis’
cause of death to be exsanguination caused by a gunshot wound to the
thoracic aorta. (A112). Benson was subsequently arrested and charged with
the Curtis’ shooting death. (A96). He was later indicted for intentional
Murder First Degree and Possession of a Firearm During the Commission of
a Felony.

At trial, the State called Barbara and Donnie Stephens, Shirl Williams
and Shelly Cannon as eye witnesses.' Each witness testified that they were
out in the area of the shooting on the night in question, and that they
observed the events as they occurred. Each witness also testified that they
were familiar with Benson from the neighborhood, that he was wearing blue

jeans and a white t-shirt on the night in question, and that he was in fact the

' See trial testimony of Barbara Stephens (A37) — (A42); trial testimony of
Donnie Stephens (A30) — (A36); trial testimony of Shirl Williams (A50) —
(A57); and trial testimony of Shelly Cannon (A57) — (A63).
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individual who shot Curtis.?> The State also introduced testimony of
investigating and responding police officers; responding EMS personnel;
DNA experts; a ballistics expert; Benson’s former cellmate; and the
pathologist who performed the autopsy on Curtis.

The State’s ballistics expert, Carl Rone (hereinafter “Rone”) testified
that the projectiles recovered from Curtis’ body were fired from a .45 caliber
pistol. (A87). He further testified that the weapon from which the bullets
were fired had conventional, right-twist rifling. (A88). Rone’s testimony
also established that the weapon recovered from the rooftop of 810 Lombard
was a .45 caliber revolver that had conventional, right-twist rifling and that
the recovered projectiles were consistent with being fired from this type of
weapon. (A88). Rone further testified, however, that the recovered
projectiles were too damaged to be tested to the degree necessary to
determine that they had been fired from the recovered weapon. (A89).

At no time during the State’s case in chief did it establish the lethality
of the recovered weapon versus that of other weapons, nor did it establish

that Benson had other firearms available to him.

2Id.



During its case in chief, the State also called David Lawhorn
(hereinafter Lawhorn) to testify as to the substance of conversations that he
had with Benson while the two were incarcerated together. (A105 — A110).
Lawhorn and Benson were cellmates between January and August, 2012.
(A105). At the time of Benson’s trial, Lawhorn had pleaded guilty to and
multiple burglaries and had been sentenced. (A106). Lawhorn testified in
pertinent part that Benson had confessed to having shot and killed Curtis,
discarding the gun on a nearby rooftop, and fleeing to a nearby apartment
complex and later to Dover. (A105 — A106). Lawhorn’s testimony for the
State at Benson’s trial was in exchange for the later filing of a substantial
assistance motion from which Lawhorn stood to benefit. (A106).

The defense requested a cautionary instruction as applies to
Lawhorn’s testimony during the prayer conference. (A132). The trial judge
requested that a proposed instruction be forwarded to her. (A132). The final
instructions given to the jury, however, included no such cautionary
instruction. (A147 — A154).

At the close of the evidence, the State argued that in light of the
overwhelming weight of the physical evidence that had been collected, and

in light of the eye witness and expert witness testimony, there is no verdict



that the jury could reach other than guilty of Murder First Degree and
Possession of a Firearm During the Commission of a Felony. (A136 —
A139). In its summation, the Defense argued that the evidence was not
sufficient to prove that Benson had the requisite intent to sustain a verdict of
guilty of Murder First Degree. (A139 — A142). The defense vigorously
argued that in light of Benson’s youth and impulsiveness, and the
inconclusiveness of the physical evidence, that the only homicide offenses
that could be sustained by the evidence are Murder Second Degree,
Manslaughter or Criminally Negligent Homicide; offenses requiring a lesser
mental state than intent. (A141 — A142).

In its rebuttal summation, the State argued, inter alia, the size of the
gun and bullets involved in the shooting were proof that Curtis was
intentionally killed. (A145). The prosecutor also mentioned that a witness
had testified that Curtis was writhing about on the ground when Benson shot
him a second time, an assertion not supported by the testimony or evidence.
(A145). Benson’s defense attorney did not object to the State’s remarks
when they were made and the trial judge did not intervene sua sponte.

Following summations, the Court issued its final instructions of law to

the jury. (A147 — A154). The Court’s jury instructions informed the jury of



the necessary elements which must be proven to sustain guilty verdicts for
the indicted offenses as well as the lesser included offenses. (A147 — A150).
The Court’s instructions also set forth the burdens of proof and informed the
jury that questions and remarks by counsel were not evidence and that
deliberations should only consider witness responses and the evidence that
was admitted through trial. (A151 — A152). Following roughly two and a
half hours of deliberation, the jury returned verdicts of guilty as to Murder
First Degree and Possession of a Firearm During the Commission of a

Felony. (A154 — A155).
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ARGUMENT

L. THE TRIAL COURT’S FAILURE TO ISSUE A CURATIVE
INSTRUCTION SUA SPONTE IN RESPONSE TO THE STATE’S
PERJORATIVE REBUTTAL SUMMATION REMARKS
CONSTITUTES PLAIN ERROR IN THAT THE REMARKS
TOUCHED UPON A CLOSE ISSUE CENTRAL TO THE CASE.

QUESTION PRESENTED

Must a conviction be reversed where, in his rebuttal summation, a
prosecutor makes statements which misrepresent the evidence that was
presented at trial and no curative instruction is issued by the trial judge prior
to giving the case to the jury for deliberations?’

STANDARD AND SCOPE OF REVIEW

Where no timely objection is made to inflammatory, misleading
remarks made by a prosecutor and the trial judge does not intervene sua
sponte, this Court reviews for plain error.’

MERITS OF THE ARGUMENT

Prosecutors occupy a unique position as ministers of justice in the

criminal justice process, and as such are tasked with securing justice, not

3 (A.145).
* Baker v. State, 902 A.2d 139, 148 (Del. 2006).
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simply convictions of accused defendants.’ In light of a prosecutor’s unique
role, he must refrain from making improper or inflammatory remarks which
go beyond the scope of the record evidence.’ Similarly prosecutors are to
avoid making comments which seem to assert personal knowledge of the
case that has not been presented to the jury.’

This Court’s review of prosecutorial misconduct is dependent on how
the misconduct was approached in the proceedings below. If the defense
raised a timely and specific objection to the alleged misconduct, or if the
trial judge intervened sua sponte to address it, this Court reviews for
harmless error.® If, however, no objection was raised by the defense, or the
trial court did not intervene sua sponte, this Court reviews merely for plain
error.”

The plain error standard sets forth that where an alleged error is

obvious upon the face of the record, and so clearly prejudicial as to impugn

> Sexton v. State, 397 A.2d 540, 544 (Del. 1979).
6
1d.
" Baker v. State, 906 A.2d 139, 152 (Del. 2000), (citing Elmer v. State, 724
A.2d 625, 632 (1999)).
®Id. at 148,
? Kurzmann v. State, 2006 Del. LEXIS 390, *11 (Del. 2000).
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the fundamental fairness of the trial process, a conviction may not stand."
Plain error, thus, is limited to those errors which are basic, serious,
fundamental and which “clearly deprive an accused of a substantial right [. .
.] or show manifest injustice.”"’

In assessing whether prosecutorial misconduct requires reversal, this
Court applies a three part analysis.'> The Court will look to (1) the closeness
of the case; (2) the centrality of the issue affected by the alleged misconduct;
and (3) the remedial steps taken to ameliorate the effects of the
misconduct.” This three part analysis set forth in Hughes 1s not conjunctive,
however, and one factory may carry greater weight than the others."
Moreover, in instances where an analysis under Hughes does not lead to a
conclusion that a reversal is mandated, this Court may still reverse if the

misconduct is repetitive and serious doubt has been cast upon the trial

process.’”

" Wainwright v. State, 504 A.2d 1096, 1100 (Del. 1986).
"1,

'"* Hughes v. State, 437 A.2d 559, 571 (Del. 1981).

B d

'* Baker, 906 A.2d at 149.

b1
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This Court has long held that prosecutors must refrain from
misrepresenting or misusing evidence.'® In Hunter, the defendant was
charged with numerous drug-related offenses.’”  Hunter was under
investigation by Delaware State Police for narcotics activities and was
apprehended following a traffic violation.'® While police were following the
defendant’s car, they observed a white ball being discarded from a driver’s
side window."” At the time of his apprehension, Hunter refused to answer
any police questions and was in possession of an identification card that
reported his identity as Anthony Jones.”> When Hunter’s fingerprints were
run, the results indicated that Hunter’s identity was in fact Scottie Brown,
another alias.”' Later FBI fingerprints returned Hunter’s true identity.*

During summation, the prosecutor made several statements which
were either disparaging to defense counsel or which were misrepresentations

1.23

of the evidence adduced during tria Defense counsel objected twice

' Hunter v. State, 815 A.2d 730, 735 (Del. 2002).
'" Hunter v. State , 815 A.2d 730 (Del. 2002).

'® Id. at 733.

P

1.

1.

21d.

B Id. at 733-34.
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during the State’s summation.** Following the defense’s objection, the
prosecutor withdrew the offending statement at which the objection was
aimed and the Court admonished the prosecutor to confine his statements to
the evidence.”

On appeal, the Court found that it is unacceptable for prosecutors to
mislead the jury in regard to what the evidence shows.”® The Court thus
reaffirmed the longstanding precept that a prosecutor’s expressions of
personal belief or opinion are no more than a form of unsworn testimony
that exploits the influence of his office.”” The Court, in applying the Hughes
analysis, determined that Hunter’s was not a close case, the issues upon
which the prosecutor’s cdmr’nents touched were not central, and that the trial
judge appropriately remedied the objected to remarks.”® The Court went

further, however, to address the comments to which there was no objection

2 Id. at 734.

1.

0 Id. at 736-37.

*" Id. at 737, (quoting Wainwrightv. State, 504 A.2d 1096, 1100 (Del.
1986)).

% Id. at 737-38.
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and found that because the misconduct was repetitive, reversal was
appropriate.”’

In Baker v. State, the Court reaffirmed that the three part Hughes test
is the appropriate analysis to determine whether prosecutive misconduct
requires reversal.”® While cross-examining the defendant who was accused
of numerous sex offenses against his daughter, the prosecutor in Baker
insinuated that the defendant had experience sex offenses and the process by
which they are pursued.’’ Upon the question being asked, Baker’s defense
attorney objeéted on relevance grounds.”” Following a sidebar conference
where the trial judge admonished the prosecutor not to “go down that row to
hoe”, the parties returned to their tables and examination resumed.* The
jury was not told to disregard the prosecutor’s questions which intimated

that the defendant had prior familiarity with sex offenses.”* Following

2 Id. at 738.

1906 A.2d 139 (Del. 2006).
U 1d. at 147.

2 1d.

3 1d. at 147-48.

Id. at 148.
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summation, the jury convicted the defendant of several offenses while
acquitting him of others.*

On appeal, Baker argued that the prosecutor’s improper questions
constituted plain error.”® In reversing Baker’s convictions, the Court held
that the prosecutor’s improper question relating to prior familiarity with sex
offenses “implied the existence of a predicate fact” from which the jury
could draw “extremely damaging [. . .] inferences”.’’ The Court further
found that by asking the complained of question, the prosecutor failed to
fulfil his obligation to avoid improper suggestions.”® The Baker Court also
concluded that Hunter is not an extension of the ordinary Hughes analysis,
but rather an alternative basis upon which to reverse a conviction where
prosecutorial misconduct is a repetitive occurrence during the proceedings.*
A.-  The ballistics evidence at Benson’s trial was for the limited purpose of

comparing the weapon recovered from 810 Lombard to the projectiles
recovered from Curtis’ body.

The only weapon and projectiles admitted to evidence during trial

were the weapon recovered from 810 Lombard and the casings and

3 1d. at 146.
% 1d. at 142,
7 Id.at 154.
®1d.

% Id. at 149,
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cartridges found in its cylinder when it was recovered. Furthermore, the
State’s case in chief, its ballistics expert only testified as to the general

characteristics of the weapon that was recovered from 810 Lombard Street

40

and the projectiles recovered from Curtis’ body.” There was no testimony

relating to a comparison of lethality across multiple weapons.

1. The prosecutor’s rebuttal summation comment that Benson’s guilt
could be inferred from the weapon used in the crime was a
misrepresentation of the testimony and evidence presented during the
trial and was thus improper under Hughes.

During his rebuttal summation, the prosecutor made the statement that
the weapon used to kill Curtis was sufficient in itself to prove Benson’s
intent to kill.*" This statement was made despite the State’s own ballistics
expert failing to testify as the lethality of the weapon used compared to other
weapons, nor was it in direct response to any argument by the defense. The
prosecutor’s comment touched upon an issue made central to the case by the
defense’s summation and mischaracterized the evidence presented at trial.
Indeed, the prosecutor’s comment indicated to the jury that he had additional
information about the case or the evidence therein that had not been

presented.

Y See, trial testimony of Carl Rone (A85 — A89).
“1(A145),
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Benson’s case was not close insofar as the question of identity was
concerned. This is clear from the witness testimony presented throughout
the trial. The same cannot be said, however, for the issue of degree of
liability.

Benson was indicted for intentionally killing Curtis.** The defense
tactic was to argue the lesser homicide offenses which require varying
degrees of reckless or criminally negligent conduct. Thus, the prosecutor’s
remark touched upon an issue that was made central to the case by the nature
of the defense strategy pursued. Though length of the proceeding has some
bearing upon the centrality of an issue affected by an improper prosecution
comment, here the passage of time does nothing to lessen the harm done by
the remark.* This case, therefore, is distinguishable from Pennell where the
proceedings took place over a period of two months. Here the improper
rebuttal summation remark was made and moments later, the case given to
the jury for deliberation.

While no objection was made to the Prosecutor’s rebuttal remarks and

no curative instruction was given by the trial judge, that element of the

2 (A10-Al1).
* See, Pennell v. State, 602 A.2d 48, 52 (Del. 1991).

19



Hughes test does not invalidate the gravity of the other two factors.*
Moreover, the prosecutor’s comment is particularly problematic as it
embodies the type of unsworn testimony exploitative of his office that
Wainwright forbids.”

2. The prosecutor’s improper rebuttal remarks constitute plain error
which require that Benson’s convictions be reversed.

Having established that the prosecutor’s rebuttal remarks were
improper under Hughes, this Court must determine whether the remarks
constitute plain error which require reversal. In this case, the prosecutor’s
improper remarks are obvious upon the face of the record and were
misleading as they plainly mischaracterized the physical evidence. As in
Hunter, the prosecutor materially mischaracterized the nature of the
evidence to the jury. In Hunter, the prosecutor commented that the
defendant had all but conceded that the contraband came from his car.*®

Here, the prosecutor commented that the sheer size of the weapon in

“ Baker, 906 A.2d at 149, (holding that the three part Hughes test is not
conjunctive and one or more factors may outweigh the other(s)).

* Wainwright, 504 A.2d at 1100,

“ Hunter, 815 A.2d at 735.
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evidence is itself all but conclusive proof that Benson intended to kill
Curtis.”’

The prosecutor’s comment implied that Benson had a selection of
firearms available to him, a fact not established by physical, circumstantial,
or testimonial evidence. The comment exploited the influence of the
prosecutor’s office, and although brief, took the form of unsworn testimony
prohibited by this Court.*® Furthermore, there was no timely objection to the
comment and no sua sponte intervention by the trial judge and the offending
comment was made almost immediately before the case was given to the
jury for deliberation. Under these circumstances, it cannot be said that the
jury’s guilty verdict was based solely upon the record evidence and
testimony without the prosecutor’s statement weighing heavily into their
decision to convict. As such, Benson’s conviction must be reversed as the

prosecutor’s improper summation comment constitutes plain error.

7 (A145).
* Wainwright, 504 A.2d at 1100.
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[I. ~ THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN
IT FAILED TO ISSUE A REQUESTED CAUTIONARY
INSTRUCTION RELATING TO THE TRIAL TESTIMONY OF
BENSON’S CELL MATE DAVID LAWHORN, WHO WAS TO
RECEIVE SUBSTANTIAL ASSISTANCE CONSIDERATION IN
EXCHANGE FOR HIS TESTIMONY AGAINST BENSON.

QUESTION PRESENTED

Does reversible error occur where a trial judge’s final instructions to
the jury fail to include a cautionary instruction relating to the testimony of a
State’s witness who is a convicted felon pending sentencing on an unrelated
matter, and who stands to receive a benefit from the State in exchange for
his testimony against the defendant?®

STANDARD AND SCOPE OF REVIEW

This Court exercises plenary review over a trial judge’s failure to give
a requested jury instruction.’

MERITS OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court has long held that a defendant is not entitled to any

particular instruction, however, he is entitled to an accurate substantive

51

statement of the law.”" A jury’s verdict will only be overturned by this

Y (A132).
> Lunnon v. State, 710 A.2d 197, 199 (Del. 1998).
>! Flamer v. State, 490 A.2d 104, 128 (Del. 1983).
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Court where the complained deficiency prevented the jury from performing
its duty intelligently.>

It i1s well accepted that the Delaware State Court’s pattern jury
instructions are generally sufficient to allow the jury to intelligently perform
its duty.53 There are, however, matters which the Delaware State Court
pattern instructions do not address. One such matter is the manner in which
a jury should treat the testimony of an informant witness for the State who
stands to benefit from his testimony. Insofar as this should be a trial
occurrence that the Court must address, the Third Circuit Pattern Jury
Instruction for informant witnesses is instructive. The Third Circuit’s
pattern instruction sets forth:

You have heard evidence that [Lawhorn] has an arrangement

with the [State] under which [a substantial assistance motion

will be filed in his unrelated case] for providing information to

the [State]. [His] testimony was received in evidence and may

be considered by you. The [State] is permitted to present the

testimony of someone who [receives a benefit] for providing

information to the [State] but you should consider the testimony

of [Lawhorn] with great care and caution. In evaluating

[Lawhorn’s] testimony, you should consider this factor along

with the others I have called to your attention. You may give

the testimony such weight as you think it deserves. It is for you
to determine whether or not [Lawhorn’s] information or

52
1d.
> Keyser v. State, 893 A.2d 956, 960 (Del. 2006).
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testimony may have been influenced by [his] arrangement with
the [State].”

Though the Third Circuit’s pattern instruction for informant testimony
1s acceptable in its use, it is as yet undecided whether refusing to issue this
order when requested constitutes error.”

In the case at bar, the circumstances surrounding Lawhorn’s testimony
demonstrate that such an instruction should have been given. It was
established that Lawhorn was reporting alleged conversations between he

® It was also established that inmates have access to their

and Benson.’
cellmate’s personal effects when they are not in the room.”” Lawhorn’s
testimony further established that he had previously been convicted of
crimes of dishonesty, and was in fact serving a sentence of incarceration for
such an offense at the time his testimony was given. Under these
circumstances, a jury instruction along the lines of the Third Circuit pattern

instruction is critical to the jury according testimony its proper weight.

Under these circumstances, the jury could not intelligently perform its duty

** Third Circuit Pattern Jury Instruction 4.20, emphasis added.
> United States v. Isaac, 134 F.3d 199, 204 (3d Cir. 1998).

>0 See trial testimony of David Lawhorn, (A105 — A110).

7 (A109).
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without the appropriate cautionary instruction and Benson’s conviction

should be reversed.

25



CONSLUSION

The prosecutor’s summation comment that Benson’s intent to kill
could be proven by the size of the weapon used touched upon an issue that
was close and central to the case. The comment was “a loaded phrase” that
was “tantamount to an expression of personal opinion” as to Benson’s state
of mind.>® Because the prosecutor’s offending comment was not objected to
nor cured by a prompt and pointed judicial instruction, the error is plain and
by 1ts nature affected Benson’s substantial right to a fair trial.

Additionally, the trial judge’s failure to give a requested cautionary
instruction as relates to Lawhorn’s testimony interfered with the jury’s
ability to intelligently perform its duties. As such the reliability of the jury’s
verdict cannot be relied upon.

For the foregoing reasons, Benson respectfully requests that this
Honorable Court reverse his judgments of conviction.

/s/Peter W. Veith

Bar I.D. #: 3548

1120 West Street
Wilmington, DE 19801

Attorney for Appellant
(302) 426-0900

Dated: 5/15/2014

*® See, Erskine v. State, 4 A.3d 391, 396 (Del. 2010).
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE
IN AND FOR NEW CASTLE COUNTY

STATE OF DELAWARE
vs.

SIRRON BENSON

Alias: No Aliases

DOB: 10/08/1990
SBI: 00543782

CASE NUMBER: CRIMINAL ACTION NUMBER:
1107007485 IN11-05-0879
MURDER 1ST(F)
IN11-09-0880
PFDCF (F)

COMMITMENT
SEE NOTES FOR FURTHER COURT ORDER-TERMS/CONDITIONS

SENTENCE ORDER

NOW THIS 21ST DAY OF JUNE, 2013, IT IS THE ORDER OF THE
COURT THAT:

The defendant is adjudged guilty of the offense(s) charged.
The defendant is to pay the costs of prosecution and all
statutory surcharges.

AS TO IN11-09-087%- : TIS
MURDER 1ST

Effective August 16, 2011 the defendant is sentenced
as follows:

- The defendant is placed in the custody of the Department
of Correction for the balance of his/her natural life at
supervision level 5

AS TO IN11-09-0880- : TIS
PFDCF

- This sentence is consecutive to any sentence now serving.

- The defendant is placed in the custody of the Department
of Correction for 20 year(s) at supervision level 5

**APPROVED ORDER** 1 June 28, 2013 07:06



SPECIAL CONDITIONS BY ORDER

STATE OF DELAWARE
Vs.

SIRRON BENSON

DOB: 10/08/1990

SBI: 00543782
CASE NUMBER:

1107007485

Have no contact with the victim(s) Braheem Curtis , the
victim's family or residence.

NOTES
Any sentence imposed in CRA IN11-09-0880, PFDCF, may not be
suspended, and must be served consecutively to the related
felony, Murder 1st
IN11-09-0879.

JUDGE DIANE C STREETT

**APPROVED ORDER** 2 June 28, 2013 07:06



INANCIAL SUMMARY

STATE OF DELAWARE
Vs.
SIRRON BENSON
DOB: 10/08/1990
SBI: 00543782
CASE NUMBER:
1107007485

SENTENCE CONTINUED:

TOTAL DRUG DIVERSION FEE ORDERED
TOTAL CIVIL PENALTY ORDERED

TOTAL DRUG REHAB. TREAT. ED. ORDERED
TOTAL EXTRADITION ORDERED

TOTAL FINE AMOUNT ORDERED

FORENSIC FINE ORDERED

RESTITUTION ORDERED

SHERIFF, NCCO ORDERED 315.00
SHERIFF, KENT ORDERED

SHERIFF, SUSSEX ORDERED

PUBLIC DEF, FEE ORDERED 100.00
PROSECUTION FEE ORDERED 100.00
VICTIM'S COM ORDERED

VIDEOPHONE FEE ORDERED 2.00
DELJIS FEE ORDERED 2.00
SECURITY FEE ORDERED 20.00
TRANSPORTATION SURCHARGE ORDERED

FUND TO COMBAT VIOLENT CRIMES FEE 30.00
SENIOR TRUST FUND FEE

TOTAL 569.00

**APPROVED ORDER* * 3 June 28, 2013 07:06
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No. 381, 2005
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MICHAEL H. KURZMANN, Defendant
Below, Appellant, v. STATE OF
DELAWARE, Plaintiff Below, Appellee.

Prior History: [**1] Court Below:
Superior Court of the State of Delaware
in and for Sussex County. Cr. ID No.
0312007348. Upon appeal from the
Superior Court.

Disposition: AFFIRMED.

[ Core Terms I

probation, sentence, assault, football, hit,
probationer,  injuries,  prosecutorial
misconduct, misstate, defense counsel,
charges, restaurant, probation violation,
competent evidence, domestic violence,
criminal offense, prosecutor’s statement,
prejudicial, suspended, opening
statement, superior court, closed mind,
plain error, impermissible, misconduct,
violence, admissible evidence, guilty
plea, battering, black eye

{ Case Summary |

Procedural Posture

Defendant pleaded guilty to assaulting his
wife and other charges and was sentenced
to seven years, suspended for six months,

followed by probation. While still on
probation, defendant allegedly assaulted
his wife. The State filed a violation of
probation proceeding against defendant.
The Superior Court of the State of
Delaware in and for Sussex County found
defendant  violated probation and
sentenced defendant to seven years.
Defendant appealed.

Overview

Defendant argued his conviction should
be reversed because of the prosecutor’s
alleged misconduct. Defendant cited
three instances in which the prosecutor
repeatedly misstated evidence and argued
facts not in evidence. According to
defendant, the violation of probation
(VOP) judge relied on those false
statements as if they were evidence. The
supreme court found no basis for reversal,
noting that defendant failed to rebut the
presumption that the VOP judge made a
decision only wupon the admissible
evidence. Next, the supreme court
concluded that the VOP judge did not
sentence defendant with a close mind but
clearly considered the nature of the
offense and the character of defendant.
The supreme court further held that
defendant’s probation was properly
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revoked even though the State never
charged defendant with a new offense;
the State only needed to present some
competent evidence to prove the violation
‘asserted and to satisfy the VOP judge that
defendant’s conduct was not as good as
required under the conditions of
probation. Finally, the supreme court
upheld the admission of testimony by a
non-expert that the victim’s injuries were
not likely caused by a football.

Outcome
The judgment of the trial court was
affirmed.

[ LexisNexis® Headnotes I

Criminal Law & Procedure > Appeals >

Prosecutorial Misconduct >  General
Overview
HNI 1t is well-established that
prosecutors may not misstate or

misrepresent the evidence presented at
trial.

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of
Review > De Novo Review > General
Overview

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of
Review > Plain Error > Prosecutorial
Misconduct

HN?2 As a general matter, a supreme court
reviews  claims of  prosecutorial
misconduct de novo to determine whether
the conduct was improper or prejudicial.
Not every improper remark, however,
requires reversal. To the extent the
supreme court determines that
prosecutorial misconduct occurred, the
supreme court then engages in a
four-factor inquiry to determine the
prejudicial impact of the improper

conduct examining: (1) the closeness of
the case; (2) the centrality of the issue
affected by the alleged error; (3) the steps
taken to mitigate the effects of the alleged
error; and (4) whether the prosecutor’s
statements were repetitive errors that
require reversal because they cast doubt
on the integrity of the judicial process. If
the defense counsel does not object to the
prosecutor’s misconduct and the trial
judge does not intervene sua sponte,
however, the supreme curt will review for
plain error.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Trials > Bench
Trials

Evidence > Inferences & Presumptions >
Presumptions

HN3 A judge, sitting as a trier of fact, is
presumed to have made his or her verdict
only on the admissible evidence before
him or her and to have disregarded that
which is inadmissible.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Appeals >
Prosecutorial Misconduct > General
Overview

HN4 Because prosecutorial misconduct
claims are very fact specific and
sensitive, an appellant alleging improper
prosecutorial comment in any context
should quote in his or her opening brief
the entire allegedly improper statement,
specifically indicate the objectionable
portions of that statement, and append to
the brief all relevant portions of the
transcript where the “misconduct” can be
confirmed.

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing >
Appeals > General Overview

PETER VEITH
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HNS5 A supreme court reviews a superior
court’s sentencing of a criminal defendant
for an abuse of discretion. It is
well-established that appellate review of
sentences is extremely limited. Thus,
generally speaking, the supreme court’s
review ends upon a determination that the
sentence is within the statutory limits
prescribed by the legislature. Where the
sentence falls within the statutory limits,
the supreme court considers only whether
it is based on factual predicates which are
false, impermissible, or lack minimal
reliability, judicial vindictiveness or bias,
or a closed mind. A judge sentences with
a closed mind when the sentence is based
on a preconceived bias without
consideration of the nature of the offense
or the character of the defendant.
Moreover, the judge must have an open
mind for receiving all information related
to the question of mitigation.

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Probation >
Revocation > Standards

Criminal Law & Procedure > Sentencing >
Appeals > General Overview

HNG6 Probation is an “act of grace” and a
violation of probation (VOP) judge has
broad discretionary power when deciding
whether or not to revoke probation.
Accordingly, a supreme court reviews a
superior court judge’s revocation of a
defendant’s probation for an abuse of
discretion. The State bears a lower burden
of proof during a VOP hearing than

during a criminal trial, and need prove by

only a preponderance of the evidence that
a violation of probation occurred. To do
so the State must present some competent
evidence to reasonably satisfy the judge
that the conduct of the probationer has not

been as good as required by the
conditions of probation. Furthermore, the
rules of evidence applicable to criminal
trials are relaxed in VOP proceedings,
and hearsay evidence is admissible.

Criminal Law & Procedure > ... > Standards of
Review > Plain Error > Definition of Plain
Error

HN?7 Plain error is limited to material
defects that are apparent on the face of the
record and that are basic, serious and
fundamental in their character, and which
clearly deprive an accused of a substantial
right, or which clearly show manifest
injustice. Moreover, the error complained
of must be so clearly prejudicial to
substantial rights as to jeopardize the
fairness and integrity of the trial process.

Counsel: Michael R. Abram, Law Office
of Edward C. Gill, PA., Georgetown,
Delaware for appellant.

Kim Ayvazian, Department of Justice,
Georgetown, Delaware for appellee.

Judges: Before STEELE, Chief Justice,
HOLLAND and BERGER, Justices.

Opinion by: STEELE

{ Opinion l
[*705] STEELE, Justice:
Several years ago, the defendant

appellant, Michael Kurzmann pleaded
guilty to assaulting his wife and to several
other charges. A Superior Court judge
sentenced him to seven years at Level 5,
suspended for six months at Level 4,
followed by Level 3 probation. On July 4,
2005, while he was still on probation,
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Kurzmann allegedly assaulted his wife.
The State brought a violation of probation
proceeding against Kurzmann based on
the alleged assault contending, among
other things, that Kurzmann [*#*2]
violated his probation by committing a
new criminal offense. After a contested
VOP hearing at which both the State and
Kurzmann presented testimony, a
Superior Court judge found that
Kurzmann violated his probation by
assaulting his wife. The Superior Court
judge then sentenced Kurzmann to serve
seven years at Level 5, the full suspended
Level 5 term of the original sentence.
Kurzmann now appeals the judgment that
he violated his probation claiming that the
prosecutor  engaged in  egregious
misconduct at the VOP hearing; that the
Superior Court judge sentenced him with
a closed mind; that the Superior Court
judge should not have found a violation
of probation when the State never
charged him with a criminal offense
arising out of the alleged assault; and that
the Superior Court judge impermissibly
relied upon “medical testimony” from a
non-expert [*706] witness. We have
concluded that Kurzmann’s arguments
are without merit. Accordingly, we affirm
the judgments of the Superior Court.

FACT AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On April 21, 2004, Kurzmann pleaded
guilty to one Count of Second Degree
Assault and three Counts of Endangering
the Welfare of a Child for an incident in
which he assaulted [**3] his wife, Lea
Kurzmann, On the Assault charge,
Kurzmann received a sentence of four
years at Level 5, with credit for time

served, suspended for six months at Level
4 home confinement, followed by one
year of probation at Level 3. On each of
the three Endangering charges to which
he pleaded guilty, Kurzmann received a
sentence of 1 year at Level 5 suspended
for 1 year of probation at Level 3. The
probation for the Endangering charges
ran concurrently with that for the Assault
charge.

On February 25, 2005, while he was still
on Level 3 probation, Kurzmann was
arrested and charged with one Count of
Terroristic Threatening, three Counts of
Endangering the Welfare of a Child, and
two Counts of Offensive Touching.
Kurzmann’s probation officer filed a
report alleging a violation of probation, in
part, based on the new charges. After a
trial in Family Court, Kurzmann was
found not guilty of the Terroristic
Threatening charge and a Family Court
Commissioner dismissed the remaining
charges. Because of the outcome in
Family Court, Kurzmann’s probation
officer withdrew the violation report on
June 22, 2005. Thereafter, Kurzmann
continued on Level 3 probation.

Robin Williams and her fiance, [**4]
Kevin Walls, a retired Probation and
Parole Officer, were at Back Bay Skillets,
a restaurant in Long Neck, Delaware on
July 4, 2005. Williams was previously
employed as a domestic violence
advocate case manager at the Division of
Family Services. During the course of her
employment at DFS, Williams worked
with Lea Kurzmann for about nine
months while Lea was a DFS client.
During the nine months, Williams had
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”quite a bit of contact with Lea.” While
Williams was in the restaurant, Lea
abruptly rushed inside “clutching” her
two-year old child. Lea was crying, her
eye was almost swollen shut, her lip was
“busted” and there was blood on her and
”all over the child.” Lea was hysterical,
“definitely in fear,” and said: “Don’t let
him come in here. Please don’t let him
come in here.” Lea put down her child,
and Williams then picked up the child.
Shortly thereafter, Kurzmann walked into
the restaurant and demanded to know
who Williams was and why she was
holding his child. Kurzmann denied that
he had hurt Lea, but Lea looked at her
child and said “Tell Ms. Robin, Joanna,
that daddy-tell Ms. Robin what daddy
did. Daddy hit mommy.” The child did
not respond.

Williams gave the child back to [**5]
Lea and Walls asked Kurzmann to step
outside of the restaurant. After some
prodding, Kurzmann left. Williams stayed
and talked with Lea for over an hour. Lea
told Williams that she and her husband
had an argument the previous day, during
which Kurzmann poked Lea in the neck.
After the argument Lea left her home and
spent the evening in her vehicle. When
Lea came back home the next day, she
refused to get out of the vehicle.
Kurzmann came out of the residence
screaming at Lea. He then approached the
van and hit Lea with his fist on the side of
her face. The two-year old child was with
Lea in the van during the assault.

During the hour in which Lea talked with
Williams, she “remained upset” and
“never stopped crying.” Williams

unsuccessfully tried to convince Lea to go
to a battered women’s shelter, but Lea did
not [*707] want to go because she feared
DFS would be involved and she would
“end up losing her children.” After the
conversation with Williams, Lea went
back to her home, which was across the
street from the restaurant. Kurzmann
arrived back at the home a few minutes
later. Once Williams saw Kurzmann go
back into the home, she called the police
to report the incident. Before the police
[**6] arrived, Lea left in a van and
drove to her nearby friend’s house. One
of the police officers that responded to the
scene later told Williams that she had
spoken with Lea over the phone and that
both Lea and Kurzmann said that
Kurzmann had been playing football with
their dog and that the football hit Lea
when she came outside with the child.

/4

In an attempt to “get some information”
about the July 4th incident, two probation
officers, Debbie Benton and James Ayers,
went to the Kurzmann residence on July
7, 2005. Benton observed that Lea had a
black eye and bruising on her right cheek,
upper lip, and on her shoulder and arms.
Ayers confirmed that Lea had a black eye,
some swelling, and discoloration of her
lip. Ayers also observed that Lea had
finger marks on her arms. Lea explained
that she sustained her facial injuries when
Kurzmann drop-kicked a football that
struck her in the face. According to Lea,
the finger marks on her arms were from
“rough sex.”

Lea told the probation officers that she
and her husband had an argument on July
3rd. She left the house in a car and parked
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somewhere. When Lea returned home the
next day, the argument with Kurzmann
continued. During this argument, [**¥7]

Kurzmann hit her with the football. Ayers
did not remember asking Lea how many
times the football had hit her; however, it
seemed to him that there was “more than
one blow or strike” on Lea’s face.

Williams, Ayers, and Benton testified at
the contested VOP hearing consistent
with the foregoing facts. The defense
called only Lea Kurzmann. According to
Lea’s testimony, she and her husband
were out back playing “monkey in the
middle” by throwing a football back and
forth and having the dog chase the
football. Kurzmann allegedly kicked the
football, it bounced off the fence, and hit
Lea in the face. Kurzmann found this
incident funny, which made Lea very
angry and upset. Lea went inside, grabbed
her daughter, and left for the restaurant
across the street “to get a soda.” Inside the
restaurant she ran into Williams, who
“automatically assumed the worse
because she knew about the history
between Mike and [Lea].” Lea refused to
let Williams call the police and testified
that she mnever told Williams that
Kurzmann hit her. Notably, Lea did not
testify that she told Williams that
Kurzmann hit her with a football.
According to Lea, she had a “bit of a
black eye” from being hit by the football.

[**8] She explained that she was
anemic and bruised easily, and that the
bruises on her arms were from “rough

”

SEX.

After hearing the testimony from
Williams, Ayers, Benton, Lea, and several
other witnesses, the Superior Court judge
who presided over the VOP hearing (the
"VOP judge”) concluded that Kurzmann
violated his probation by assaulting Lea
on July 4th, 2005. ! The judge expressly
based his finding on William’s testimony,
noting that “T found ... Williams to be a
very credible witness based, on large part,
upon my observations of her manner
when she testified.” Even though
Williams related [*708] Lea’s hearsay
statements, the judge concluded that the
statements fell within the present sense
impression and excited utterance
exceptions to the hearsay rule. In contrast
to his credibility finding about Williams,
the VOP judge expressly concluded that
Lea was not a credible witness. Having
carefully considered the evidence, the
judge concluded “I do not think that Lea’s
getting hit accidentally with a football
would have caused her to behave as she
did in front of ... Williams. I do think
getting assaulted violently by Kurzmann
would produce that kind of behavior....”

[**9] The VOP judge also relied upon
the nature of Lea’s injuries to support his
finding: “Lea had multiple points of
trauma to her face, including a black eye,
a busted lip, and a swollen cheek.” The
multiple points of trauma, in the judge’s
view, were inconsistent with getting hit
by a football. Accordingly, the VOP judge
revoked Kurzmann’s probation. For the
suspended Second Degree Assault
charge, the judge resentenced Kurzmann

1

The judge also concluded that Kurzmann committed a technical violation of his probation by failing to fulfill the requirement

that he cooperate with DFS, In resentencing Kurzmann, however, the judge stated that he “did not hold the non-cooperation”

against the defendant.
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to four years at Level 5, with credit for
time served, the full term of the original
sentence. For the first two of the
suspended Endangering charges, the
judge sentenced Kurzmann to 1 year at
Level 5; and for the last suspended
Endangering charge, to one year at Level
5, followed by six months at Level 4
work release. Kurzman now appeals
claiming that the VOP judge committed
numerous errors. We address these claims
seriatim.

DISCUSSION
1. Alleged prosecutorial misconduct

Kurzmann argues that we should reverse
his conviction because of the prosecutor’s
alleged misconduct throughout the VOP
hearing. He cites three instances of

alleged misconduct in which the
prosecutor “repeatedly misstated the
evidence and argued facts not in

evidence. [**10] HNI ” It is
well-established that prosecutors may not
misstate or misrepresent the evidence
presented at trial. % According to
Kurzmann, the judge that presided over
the VOP hearing relied on these false

statements as if they were evidence when
he rendered his decision and that,
therefore, we should reverse and remand
for a new VOP hearing.

[**11] HN2 As a general matter, we
review  claims  of  prosecutorial
misconduct de novo to determine whether
the conduct was improper or prejudicial. *
“Not every improper [*709] remark,
however, requires reversal.” ¢ “To the
extent we determine that prosecutorial
misconduct occurred, we then engage in a
four-factor inquiry to determine the
prejudicial impact of the improper
conduct examining: (1) the closeness of
the case; (2) the centrality of the issue
affected by the alleged error; (3) the steps
taken to mitigate the effects of the alleged
error; and (4) whether the prosecutor’s
statements were repetitive errors that
require reversal because they cast doubt
on the integrity of the judicial process. > If
the defense counsel does not object to the
prosecutor’s misconduct and the trial

2 Flonnory v._State, 893 A.2d 507, 540 (Del. 2006) (citing Hunter v. Stare, 815 A.2d 730, 735 (Del. 2002 ) ); Hughes v, State,

437 A.2d 559, 567 (Del. 1981) ("It is unprofessional conduct for the prosecutor intentionally to misstate the evidence or mislead the
jury as to the inferences it may draw.”) (quoting ABA Standards, Prosecution and Defense Functions (1971)). See also ABA
Criminal Justice Standards, Prosecution Function, Standard 3-5.5, Opening Statement (“The prosecutor’s opening statement should
be confined to a statement of the issues in the case and the evidence the prosecutor intends to offer which the prosccutor
believes in good faith will be available and admissible. A prosecutor should not allude to any evidence unless there is a good
faith and reasonable basis for believing that such evidence will be tendered and admitted in evidence.”); Standard 3-5.6(b),

Presentation of Evidence (“A prosecutor should not knowingly and for the purpose of bringing inadmissible matter to the attention
of the judge or jury offer inadmissible evidence, ask legally objectionable questions, or make other impermissible comments or
arguments in the presence of the judge or jury.); Standard 3-5.8(a), Argument to the Jury (“In closing argument to the jury, the
prosecutor may argue all reasonable inferences from evidence in the record. The prosecutor should not intentionally misstate the
evidence or mislead the jury as to the inferences it may draw.”) available at http./fwww.abanet.org/crimjusy/ standards/pfunc_toc.htm!

Flonnory, 893 A.2d at 538 (citations omitted).
Daniels v. State, 859 A.2d 1008, 1011 (Del. 2004) (citation omitted).
> Flonnory, 893 A.2d at 538 (citing Hughes, 437 A.2d at 569; Hunter, 815 A.2d at 738).
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judge does not intervene sua sponte,
however, we will review for plain error. °

This case presents a variation on the usual
theme addressing the law governing
prosecutorial misconduct, because here
the alleged instances of prosecutorial
misconduct occurred during a contested
VOP hearing at which a Superior Court
judge sat as the trier of fact. Most cases
involving prosecutorial misconduct arise
~ when the alleged misconduct occurs in

front of a jury. This variation is important’

because HN3 “[a] judge, sitting as a trier
of fact, is presumed to have made his
verdict only on the admissible evidence
before him and to have disregarded that
which is inadmissible.” 7 Thus, in order to
obtain reversal on [**13] the grounds of
prosecutorial misconduct in this VOP
hearing, Kurzmann must: (1) show that
the prosecutor did in fact engage in
misconduct by misstating the evidence
and arguing facts not in evidence; (2) he
must rebut the presumption that the VOP
judge made his decision only on the
admissible evidence before him and
disregarded the allegedly inadmissible
and improper prosecutorial statements by
making a showing that the trial judge
actually relied upon these misstatements
in reaching his result; and (3) he must
show that the VOP judge’s reliance was
either plain error or unfairly prejudicial
under the Hughes-Hunter analysis. If

Kurzmann fails to establish any one, the
VOP judge’s decision must stand.

[**14] A. Opening Statement.

In her opening statement-the first instance
of alleged misconduct -- the prosecutor
said:

This defendant has been
dealing with issues of violence
and substance abuse for many,
many years. He has had
difficulty in dealing with
relationships for all that time.

He [Kurzmann] is continuing to
offend. Even after he pled guilty
in Superior Court, there were
two more arrests that went to
Family Court, and those [*710]
charges [sic] ultimately we
couldn’t go forward because Lea
wouldn’t appear. During the case
that I have pending in Superior
Court, DFS became involved.
This was a result of that incident
where the children witnessed
both assaults.

It is difficult to determine exactly which

statements Kurzmann alleges are
objectionable because he did not
expressly quote  the  statements.

Moreover, he cited and provided only one
page in the appendix for each alleged

S Morris v. State, 795 A.2d 653, 657 (Del. 2002) (“Because defense counsel did not object at trial to the prosecutor’s statements
and the Superior Court did not interview sua sponte, we review for plain error.”) (citing Supr. Ct. R. 8; Trump v. State, 753
A.2d 963, 964-65 (Del. 2000); Robertson v, State, 596 A.2d 1345, 1356 (Del. 1991) (parentheticals omitted)); Williams v._State

803 A.2d 927, 928 (Del. 2002).

" Burke v. State, 1997 Del, LEXIS 95, *5-6 (Del. 1997) (quoting United States v. Cardenas, 9 F.3d 1139, 1156 (5th Cir. 1993));
See e.g., Liggett v. People, 135 P.3d 725, 2006 Colo. LEXIS 441, *25 (Colo, 2006) (“In the context of a bench trial, the

prejudicial effect of improperly admitted evidence is generally presumed innocuous. [Tlhere is a presumption that all incompetent
evidence is disregarded by the court in reaching its conclusions, and the judgment will not be disturbed unless it is clear that
the court could not have reached the result but for the incompetent evidence.”) (citations and quotations omitted);
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instance of misconduct. Because he cited
and provided only one page in the
appendix for each allegedly improper
statement, it is difficult to determine with
certainty the objectionable statements,
because in his briefs Kurzmann loosely
paraphrased the improper comments.

When deciding whether [**15] a
comment 1S improper prosecutorial
misconduct, our cases often turn on the
nuances of the language and the context
in which the statements were made.
SHN4 Because prosecutorial misconduct
claims are very fact specific and
sensitive, in the future, an appellant
alleging improper prosecutorial comment
in any context should quote in his
opening brief the entire allegedly
improper statement, specifically indicate
the objectionable portions of that
statement, and append to the brief all
relevant portions of the transcript where
the “misconduct” can be confirmed.

[*%16] Defense counsel did not object to
the prosecutor’s statement, either during
or after she finished. Contrary to
Kurzmann’s suggestion on appeal, in her
opening statement, the prosecutor never
once stated or argued that “the defendant

has a consistent history of battering his
wife.” > The prosecutor’s statements that
arguably lend themselves to the
defendant’s interpretation were that Lea
Kurzmann was a domestic violence
victim, “who is living with abuse, [and]
has been living [page break] '° with abuse
for a number of years...,” that Kurzmann
“has been dealing with issues of violence
and substance abuse for many, many
years,” and that Kurzmann is “continuing
to offend.” In his reply brief, Kurzmann
does not dispute that the State offered
evidence “that there was a past history of
domestic  violence....” Nevertheless,
Kurzmann contends, the State offered no
evidence that Lea failed to cooperate with
the prosecution or police investigations.
1" Accordingly, we will assume that
Kurzmann’s focus on the alleged
prosecutorial misconduct during the
opening statement is limited to the
allegedly false statement: “Even after
[Kursmann] pled guilty in Superior
Court, [*711] there were two more
arrests that went to Family Court, and
those charges [sic] ultimately we couldn’t
go forward because Lea wouldn’t
appear.” We are satisfied that there was
competent evidence in the record to
support that statement.

Compare Thompson v. State, 2005 Del, LEXIS 423, *4 (Del

. 2005) (Order) (addressing the improper comment “The State

asks that you go back not seeking to find reasonable doubt, but to seek the truth.”) and Smith v. State, 2006 Del. LEXIS 218, *33-36
(Del. 2006) (addressing, among other things, the comment “It is your duty to find the truth in this case. To look at the totality
of the case, the case as a whole, to decide what you believe about this case and decide what the truth is” and distinguishing

Thompson).

9

Opening Br. Pg 5.

' This statement began on A-3 of the transcript and continued onto A-4. Kurzmann provided only A-4 in his appendix to this
appeal, therefore, we assume that Kurzmann is not claiming that the last clause of this sentence is improper because he did not include
the previous page of the transcript, which included the first part of this sentence. In any event, the statement is not improper or

prejudicial given the context of this case.

11

Reply Br. Pg 1. ("... [T]he state offered no evidence that Lea Kurzmann failed to cooperate with [the] prosecution. The state

did offer evidence that there was a past history of domestic violence, which is not disputed, but the state did not offer proof
that Lea Kurzmann in any way failed to cooperate with any police investigations.” (emphasis added).
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James Ayers testified that Lea had
recanted her story of abuse in previous
incidents. Ayers further testified that after
the arrest of February 28, “similar things”
(i.e., recantation) happened:

They [L.ea and Kurzmann] were
both charged. There is [sic] no
witnesses. People don’t show up.
There is also a violation report
issued back in 2001 in which the
very same thing happened that
Lea called probation after
[Kurzmann] hit her. She was
afraid. Another day or two later,
she goes out to the residence, and
the story changes. She hits a log
or branch and hits her face, her
head on the picnic table. There
was a history of this type of
denial. (emphasis added).

We note that the prosecutor’s
opening statement [**18] came
before the testimony of the witnesses,
was relatively short, and was
informal. Her opening statement
anticipated Ayers’s testimony: The
prosecutor’s statement “we couldn’t
go  forward” was  arguably
inconsistent with the fact that the
State did in fact elect to prosecute
Kurzmann in Family Court on the
February 2005 charge, but in his
opening statement defense counsel
quickly pointed this fact out to the
VOP judge. Moreover, it is possible
to interpret “we couldn’t go forward”
In a manner consistent with Ayers’s
testimony. As defense counsel
indicated in his opening statement,
there was “zero evidence” before the

Family Court Commissioner when
she dismissed five of the charges
against Kurzmann. The prosecutor
may have been implying that the
State could not go forward
successfully because Lea recanted,
did not show up, or did not cooperate.
As Ayers testified, there were no
witnesses, “people [including Lea]
[did not] show up.” Nevertheless,
even if this one statement was
misconduct because it misstated facts
and “argued facts not in evidence,” as
we discuss below, Kurzmann still has
not overcome the presumption that
the VOP judge did not rely upon this
fact in rendering [**19] his decision.

B. Summation

Kurzmann complains that the prosecutor
argued in her summation that the State
“was concerned about the safety of the
[Kurzmanns’] children because there are
repeated incidents of violence in front of
the children.” Kurzmann never explains
why this was prejudicial, cites to the
record to show why it was a
misstatement, or attempts to indicate that
the trial judge improperly relied upon the
statement. The Statement at issue
follows:

....The State’s concern is for the
safety of the children. The State
is convinced that the children,
specifically Joanna, Mr.
Kurzmann’s child, is [sic] being
repeatedly exposed to domestic
violence.... She has been present

for a number of incidents for
which he has been both
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convicted and simply arrested for
in the past. She was a witness for
the charges that he is on
probation for before this Court.

Defense counsel did not object at the time
of the statement or after the prosecutor
finished. Nor did he attempt to set the
record straight. Defense counsel simply
argued that there was no allegation in the
violation report regarding the children
and that it was not fair for him to be
required to defend against [*%20]
something that was not alleged in the
report. 12

[#712] Defense counsel did not object,
perhaps, because the record largely
supports the prosecutor’s statement.
Williams testified that when Lea related
the details of the July 4 incident to her,
Lea recalled that “the child was in the
van, and that is when [Kurzmann]
assaulted her while she was in the van.”
Williams further testified that when Lea
walked into the restaurant with Joanna
that there was “blood all over the child.”
Clearly there is evidence to support the
fact that Joanna observed the July 4
incident. There is also evidence in the
record to support [**¥21] the fact that
Joanna observed the assault to which
Kurzmann pleaded guilty in April 2004
and for which he was on probation at the
time of the July 4th incident. One Count
in the indictment to which Kurzmann
pleaded guilty in April 2004stated that he
“did commit assault against Lea
Kurzmann knowing that the crime was

witnessed by a child, Joanna Kurzmann, a
member of victims [sic] family.” We are
satisfied that there is record support for
the prosecutor’s statement and that she
did not misstate evidence or argue facts
not in evidence. Again, even assuming
this statement was improper, Kurzmann
has not overcome the presumption that
the VOP judge only relied upon
admissible evidence when rendering his
decision.

C. Sentencing Statement

In his opening brief, Kurzmann suggests
that, before sentencing, the prosecutor
misstated the facts and argued facts not in
evidence by “argu[ing] that [Kurzmann]
has a complete history of systematic
battering that cannot be controlled.” The
prosecutor actually said:

The pattern here is that he is
going to hurt her and she is
simply unable or willing at this
point to resist the battering. If it
was just the two of them, perhaps
none [**22] of us should be
concerned, but there are three
small children involved. They
are so involved that the two of
them [the Kurzmanns] thought it
was fitting to bring them here
today, which I find extremely
offensive.

The State’s position is that he
needs to be in jail. The only way
the children won’t be exposed to

' Although Kurzmann did not argue that this particular statement raised due process issues, we are satisfied that Kurzmann
was not in fact required to defend against an allegation about harm to the children not alleged in the violation report. From the
record in its entirety, it is clear that the State proceeded against Kurzmann based on his assault on Lea and various other technical

probation violations.
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violence is if he is in jail, because
she is not going to keep them
away from him. '3

[*713] The prosecutor’s comments
might be hyperbolic argument, '* in
which the prosecutor made legitimate
inferences from the evidence at the
VOP hearing, !° but they are
supported by the record, are not
misstatements, and, in context, are
not improper in any way. Moreover,
as noted above, Kurzmann expressly
conceded in his reply brief that “the
state did offer evidence that there was
a past history of domestic
violence....” For these reasons we are
satisfied that Kurzmann cannot
establish that the prosecutor engaged
in misconduct by misstating the
evidence.

[*%23]

Kurzmann misconstrues the prosecutor’s
statements by implying that the state
argued that “Kurzmann [was] guilty of a
charge after a court has found him not
guilty....” He focuses on the February
2005 incident and the disposition in
Family Court and suggests that the State
argued and consequently the VOP judge
impermissibly relied upon this incident to
establish Kurzmann’s history of violence
when the State offered “actual evidence
of only one conviction for domestic
violence.” '°

[**24] The foregoing analysis of the
actual statements about which Kurzmann
complains notwithstanding, Kurzmann
has simply failed to offer sufficient record
support to rebut the presumption that the
VOP judge made his verdict only upon
the admissible evidence before him and
that he disregarded the prosecutor’s
allegedly false statements. '’ In an
attempt to rebut this presumption,

'3 One page earlier in the transcript the prosecutor stated:

Your honor, Mr. Kurzmann, I don’t believe, will ever change his spots. He is a batterer. He has been a
batter for years and he will continue to be a batterer until he either gets too old or too infirmed to

hit or there is some other kind of miracle that occurs in his life.... He has been a [sic] battering Lea
for many years. The file in my office is contained in a box because there have been so many arrests. Most
of them have not [begin page cited in transcript] resulted in convictions because Lea has either not
appeared because she has fought with us every time we tried to serve her or she came in and recanted

on the stand every time.

Kurzmann did not cite this statement in its entirety (although the page of the transcript he did cite includes the fragment at the
end). Given the relevant portion of the transcript included in his appendix, we assumed that Kurzmann was concerned with the
statement we quoted in the main text of this opinion, particularly in light of the fact that Kurzmann included the statement quoted
in this footnote at a later portion in the appendix to support a different argument (A-21). The statement quoted in this footnote,
nevertheless, includes some of the same type of alleged misconduct we discussed above. Kurzimann did not argue on appeal that
this statement was an additional instance of misconduct. For the reasons cited throughout this opinion, even if Kurzmann had argued
that this statement was improper, we are satistied that it did not constitute reversible error.

14 See Flonnory, 893 A.2d at 540.

Y5 See Hooks v. Stare, 416 A.2d 189, 204 (Del. 1980) (“The prosecutor in his final summation should not be confined to a
repetition of the evidence presented at trial. He is allowed and expected to explain all the legitimate inferences of the appellants’
guilt that tflow from that evidence.”) (citation omitted); Morris, 795 A.2d at 659.

16

Reply Br., pg 2 (emphasis added).
7 Burke, 1997 Del. LEXIS 95, *5-6.

PETER VEITH



Page 13 of 21

903 A.2d 702, *¥713; 2006 Del. LEXIS 390, **24

Kurzmann argues that the VOP judge
impermissibly relied upon multiple
assaults when rendering his decision
(including the February 2005 assault that
went to trial in Family Court). In so
doing, Kurzmann, perhaps mistakenly,
misinterprets the VOP judge’s statements.
When he discussed Lea’s credibility the
VOP judge noted:

Morever, [Lea] had multiple
motives not to tell the truth. It is
obvious to me, given
Kurzmann’s prior assaults on
this woman which led to a
conviction for assault in the
second degree, that she had
many reasons to fear him and
many reasons to accommodate
her testimony to fit his view of
what happened.

Kurzmann quotes the italicized
portion of the above statement to
argue that the VOP judge relied upon
the February 2005 incident as support
for his decision and sentence. [*%25]
We cannot accept Kurzmann’s
interpretation. His focus on the “s” at
the end of “assaults” in a phrase
where the VOP judge is clearly
discussing the second degree assault
charge to which Kurzmann pleaded
guilty does not rebut the
presumption. Because Kurzmann has
(1) failed to show that the prosecutor
actually engaged in misconduct at all
and (2) failed to rebut the

presumption that the VOP judge
rendered his decision only upon the
admissible evidence before him, we
need not engage in a Hughes-Hunter
or plain error analysis. For these
reasons, Kurzmann’s first argument
fails.

Before discussing Kurzmann’s second
claim, we think it necessary to discuss
briefly claims of  prosecutorial
misconduct on appeal in general. The
phrase “prosecutorial misconduct” is not
a talismanic incantation, the mere
invocation of which will automatically
lead to a reversal. This Court has always
taken claims of prosecutorial [*714]
misconduct very seriously and will
continue to do so [*¥26] in the future. %
Nevertheless, we do not condone the
magic bullet approach to appeals loosely
based on “prosecutorial misconduct.”
Before making a claim of prosecutorial
misconduct on appeal, defense counsel
should be sure that there are ample
grounds for the claim, because accusing a
prosecutor of prosecutorial misconduct
has potentially serious implications. *°

2. The Superior Court judge did not
sentence Kurzmann with a closed mind

In his second argument on appeal,
Kurzmann contends that the VOP judge
sentenced him with a closed mind. HN5
We review the Superior Court’s
sentencing of a criminal defendant for an
abuse of discretion. 2 It s
well-established that appellate review of

18 See e.g. Hunter, 815 A.2d 730.
19 See Price v, State, 858 A.2d 930 (Del. 2004).
20 Walr v. State, 727 A.2d 836, 840 (Del. 1999).
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sentences is extremely limited. *' Thus,
generally speaking, our review ends upon
a determination that the sentence is within
the statutory limits prescribed by the
legislature. 2> Where the [¥*27] sentence
falls within the statutory limits, we
consider only whether it is based on
factual predicates which are false,
impermissible, or lack minimal reliability,
judicial vindictiveness or bias, or a closed
mind. ** “A judge sentences with a closed
mind when the sentence is based on a
preconceived bias without consideration
of the nature of the offense or the
character of the defendant.” ** Moreover,
“the judge must have an open mind for
receiving all information related to the
question of mitigation.” °

[**#28] Kurzmann contends that the VOP

judge erred by (1) relying wupon
“impermissible and false evidence” when
sentencing him; and (2) imposing an
unduly harsh sentence for Kurzmann’s
first violation.

Immediately before he sentenced

Kurzmann the judge stated:

Mr. Kurzmann, you have a long
history of violence toward Lea
Kurzmann. It appears to me that
the first time that you had pretty
much unrestrained access to her,
another incident of violence
occurred. I have no reason to

believe, based on what you have
actually done, that anything is
going to change. Given that, I am
going to sentence you as
follows....

Kurzmann cites the italicized portion
of the above statement to support his
argument:

In sentencing [Kurzmann] the
[judge] relied upon facts that
were argued by the State but for
which they offered no evidence.
Specifically the [judge] states
”Mr. Kurzmann, you have a long
history of violence towards Lea
Kurzmann.” While not
expanding on why [he] came to
this conclusion, it is reasonable
to assert that [the judge] relied
upon the statements of the State
which were unsupported by any
facts. They [sic] facts are that
Mr. Kurzmann was on probation
[#%29] [*715] for almost a year
and half [sic] with no actual
violations when he was violated
for the matter under review
which allegedly involved
domestic violence. While it is
impossible to determine exactly
what the Judge relied upon when
he noted that Mr. Kurzmann has
a long history of Domestic

2L Mavyes v. State, 604 A.2d 839, 842 (Del. 1992).

#2 Id. (quoting Ward v, State, 567 A.2d 1296, 1297 (Del.1989)).

2 Weston v. State, 832 A.2d 742, 746 (Del. 2003) (citing Siple v. State, 701 A.2d 79, 83 (Del. 1997); Mayes, 604 A.2d at

842-43).

24 Weston, 832 A.2d at 746 (citing Ellerbe v. State, 755 A.2d 387, 2000 WL 949625, at *1 (Del. 2000)).

B Weston, 832 A.2d at 746 (citing Shelton v. State, 744 A.2d 465, 513 (Del. 1999Y)
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Violence, it is improbable to
believe that he only relied on
[Kurzmann’s] conviction and his
first violation of probation . 1t is
more likely that the [judge] used
the arguments by the state, which
used false evidence and in fact
mislead [sic] the [judge]. %°

First, this statement in Kurzmann’s
opening brief appears to be
inconsistent with his statement in the
reply brief: “the state did offer
evidence that there was a past history
of domestic violence, which is not
disputed....” That statement in the
reply brief is, however, consistent
with the VOP judge’s remark at
sentencing. Second, even looking
only to the assault charge to which
Kurzmann pleaded guilty and the
July 4th incident, the evidence in the
record supports the trial judge’s
statement. 2’ Third, and most
importantly, Kurzmann attempts to
flip the presumption that we
discussed above. ** He would have us
interpret [**30] the VOP judge’s
statement, which even he concedes is
ambiguous, ** incompetent and
inadmissible evidence when he
rendered Kurzmann’s sentence. That
we will not do. The VOP judge did
not rely upon an impermissible

factual basis when he sentenced
Kurzmann and Kurzmann has failed
to convince us otherwise.

[**31] We are also satisfied that the
VOP judge did not sentence Kurzmann
with a closed mind. Kurzmann suggests
that the VOP judge ignored the fact that
he had not been convicted of a new
offense and was a “productive member of
society for a year and half.” We disagree.
The VOP judge heard from defense
counsel and twice from Kurzmann
himself before he imposed the sentence.
It is clear that the VOP judge considered
the nature of the offense and the character
of the defendant and that he received
information from Kurzmann and defense
counsel on the question of mitigation.
Moreover, there is nothing in the record
that supports the conclusion that the VOP
judge had a preconceived bias.
Accordingly, the VOP judge did not act
with a closed mind nor did he abuse his
discretion when he sentenced Kurzmann
to the unexecuted portion of his
suspended sentences for Second Degree
Assault and three counts of Endangering
the Welfare of a Child with credit for time
served.

3. The Superior Court judge properly
revoked Kurzmann’s probation even
though the State never charged
Kurzmann with a new criminal offense

26 Opening Br. pgs. 7-8. (emphasis added).

*7 See also Williams’s testimony ("When I first came, 1 attending a hearing in Family Court when they gave Lea full custody
of the children and absolutely no custody to Mr. Kurzmann because of the history of domestic violence .”); Lea Kurzmann’s testimony
(In response to a question from defense counsel on direct examination about speaking with Williams in the restaurant on July
4th: “[Williams] automatically assumed the worse because she knew about the history between Mike and 1 )

28 See Supra pgs. 10-11.

29

(1]t is impossible to determine exactly what the Judge relied upon when he noted that Mr. Kurzmann has a long history of
Domestic Violence....” Opening Br. pgs. 7-8, Supra . pg. 22.
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The VOP judge concluded that Kurzmann
violated his probation by assaulting Lea
[*#32] on July 4, 2005, thereby
committing a new criminal offense.
Kurzmann argues on appeal, that he
“should not have had his probation
violated for committing a new [*716]
criminal offense when he [was] not
cahrged [sic] with any criminal offenses.”
Kurzmann claims that it is reasonable to
believe that the State did not file new
charges because the State did not believe
that it could obtain a conviction. Because
the State opted to file a VOP rather than a
formal prosecution, Kurzmann was
allegedly deprived of the constitutional
rights (including specifically the Sixth
Amendment) that would otherwise have
been available at a criminal trial. As
Kurzmann summarizes his argument:

While a defendant does not enjoy
the same rights to a trial when
having a probation hearing, it
should be of concern to the
[Clourt that if the State is unable
to convict someone of a new
crime because of lack of
evidence, they can rely on
hearsay to prove their case and
violate that probation instead of
given [sic] a defendant a formal
opportunity to defend themselves
[sic]. The Judge in this case
should not have violated the
Defendant [sic] probation based

on committing a crime that was
not charged. [*%*33]

It is unclear to us exactly what Kurzmann
is arguing. He appears to suggest that we
should adopt a bright line rule that
requires the State to charge a probationer
with a crime before proceeding with a
VOP petition alleging that a probationer
violated the terms of his probation by
committing a new criminal offense. In his
reply brief, Kurzmann argues that
whenever the State cannot proceed to trial
against a probationer because it does not
have sufficient evidence to convict him
beyond a reasonable doubt that it is
“contrary to justice” for the State to
”cho[o]se to violate his probation instead
where a lower standard of proof and lack

of evidence rules apply.” Finally,
Kurzmann may be arguing that
Williams’s testimony relating Lea’s

hearsay statements was insufficient to
support a finding that Kurzmann
committed a new criminal offense. In any

of these scenarios, Kurzmann is mistaken.
30

[**34] It is well established that HN6
probation is an “act of grace” and that a
VOP judge has broad discretionary power
when deciding whether or not to revoke
probation. 3! Accordingly, we review a
Superior Court judge’s revocation of a
defendant’s probation for an abuse of
discretion. ** The State bears a lower
burden of proof during a VOP hearing

30 The State suggests that Kurzmann did not raise these arguments before the Superior Court judge who presided over the VOP
hearing, and that, accordingly, we should review for plain error. Sup. Ct. Rul. 8. The standard of review in this case is not
dispositive because even under the de novo standard Kurzmann proffers, Kurzmann’s arguments clearly have no merit.

3 Collins v. State, 897 A.2d 159, 160 (Del. 2006) (quoting Brown v. Stare, 249 A.2d 269, 271 (Del. 1968).

32 Id. (quoting Brown v, State, 249 A.2d at 272).
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than during a criminal trial. ** need prove

by only a preponderance of the evidence
that a violation of probation occurred. >4
To do so the State must present “some
competent evidence” to “reasonably
satisfy the judge that the conduct of the
probationer has not been as good as
required by the conditions of probation.”
35 Furthermore, “the rules of evidence
applicable to criminal trials are relaxed”
in VOP proceedings, and hearsay
evidence is admissible. ¢

[*717] From the foregoing statement of
law it should be clear that Kurzmann’s
first argument is without merit. The State
can proceed against a probationer by
filing a VOP petition alleging a new
criminal offense, even if the State
concedes that it does not have enough
evidence to prosecute the probationer and
to establish beyond a reasonable doubt
that he has committed the underlying
criminal offense. Because probation is an
act of grace,” the State need only present
”some competent evidence” to prove the
violation asserted and to reasonably
satisfy the VOP judge that the
probationer’s conduct has not been as
good as required under the conditions of
probation. There is nothing in our case or
statutory [**36] law that supports
Kurzmann’s argument. We see little

purpose in requiring the State to charge
and prosecute a probationer with a crime
arising out of the conduct for which the
State could also proceed in VOP hearing
when the State has only enough evidence
to prove by a preponderance that the
probationer committed the underlying
act. Although the probationer may have
lesser constitutional safeguards at a VOP
hearing than at a trial, the probationer can
only be subjected to the sentence
originally “imposed, or any lesser
sentence, [or] if imposition of sentence
was suspended, [may be subject] to any
sentence which might originally have
been imposed.” >’

Kurzmann’s  second  argument-that
Williams’s  testimony relating Lea’s
hearsay statements was insufficient to
support a finding that he committed an
assault-is also misplaced. In Collins v.
State, we recently considered whether a
police officer’s testimony at a VOP
hearing relating hearsay statements of
two [¥*37] eye-witnesses was sufficient
to link the probationer to the crime he
allegedly committed. >®* There, the
probationer was charged with violating
the conditions of his probation by
committing burglary, criminal mischief,
and terroristic threatening. ** At the VOP
hearing, the State called one witness, the

33 Jenkins v. State, 2004 Del. LEXIS 549, * 10 (Del. 2004) (Order).
3 Id. (citing Weaver v. State, 779 A.2d 254, 259 (Del. 2001); Mann v, State, 768 A.2d 470, 2001 Del. LEXIS 91, *5 (Del,

2001) (Order).

35 Collins, 897 A.2d at 160 (citation omitted); Jenkins, 2004 Del. LEXIS 549 at *10-11 (citing Brown, 249 A.2d at 272).

36 Collins, 897 A.2d at 160,
¥ 11 Del. C. 4334(c).

3 897 A2d 159.

3 Id, at 160.
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investigating police officer, who tested cannot be revoked solely upon the

that the probationer’s ex-girlfriend:

told him that the [probationer]
had come to her home, argued
with her, broke her telephone and
then left. She said he later
returned, kicked in the door,
threatened her and smashed a
figurine on the floor before he
fled. [The police officer] further
testified that he observed
scuffmarks on the ex-girlfriend’s
front door, the shattered figurine
on the floor, a hole in the wall
from the door handle, and a
broken telephone. He also
testified that he questioned the
downstairs neighbor, [the
probationer’s] aunt, who
explained to him that she saw
[the probationer] throw a beer
can down the stairs and threaten
his ex-girlfriend before fleeing to
another apartment building....

[The probationer] denied the
charges at his violation of
probation hearing. Neither [the
probationer’s] ex-girlfriend
[**38]  nor his aunt testified,
nor did the State produce any
eyewitnesses or physical
evidence linking [the
probationer] to the alleged
crime.... *°

We first noted the rule that “probation

testimony of a witness with no
first-hand knowledge of the events
constituting the violations.” *!
[*718] Moreover, “where the
defendant has not admitted violating
his probation, some competent
evidence linking the defendant to the
crime is necessary.” *> Applying this
law, we held that the State had not
presented  sufficient  competent
evidence to link the probationer to
the crime:

Although physical evidence of
the damage to the apartment may
have indicated that criminal
conduct had occurred, it did not
connect [the probationer] to that
crime. Without more, [the police
officer’s] testimony at the
hearing was not sufficient
competent evidence to prove that

[the probationer’s] conduct
violated his probation
requirements, +*

We are satisfied that Collins is
distinguishable on its facts. Here, as in
Collins, Williams related Lea’s hearsay
statements and Lea’s statements directly
implicated Kurzmann in the alleged
criminal offense. Williams also testified
that she observed Lea’s physical injuries.
That testimony is similar to the police
officer’s testimony about physical
damages in Collins. Unlike in Collins,

©°Id

*1Jd. (citation and quotation omitted).

42 Id. ar 161 (citations omitted).

B Id_at 162,

PETER VEITH



Page 19 of 21

903 A.2d 702, *718; 2006 Del. LEXIS 390, **38

however, Williams testified about Lea’s
demeanor as Lea related her statements.
Williams’s  testimony about Lea’s
demeanor gave the VOP judge a basis to
conclude that Lea’s hearsay statements
fell within the present sense and excited
utterance exceptions to the hearsay rule.
Kurzmann did not appeal these rulings.
Moreover, Williams testified that
Kurzmann followed Lea into the
restaurant and “denied that he hurt [Lea].”
Finally, Lea’s testimony established that
Kurzmann was the one who injured her,
even though she testified that he did so by
drop-kicking a football and hitting her in
the face. These facts, [**40] taken
together, are “sufficient competent
evidence” to link Kurzmann to the
alleged assault on Lea. Accordingly,
Kurzmann’s third argument on appeal
fails.

Q: Which had actually caused
her to flee from the argument the
night before? A: Correct. It
seemed implausible. She said she
was a very good athlete in high
school. As a matter of fact on the
softball team and talking about
catching balls. This seemed
implausible that she was doing
this and could not have blocked a
football.

Q: Did you ever ask her how
many times the football had hit
her?

A: 1 may [**41] have, but 1
don’t remember specifically. It
did seem that there were more
than one blow or strike on her
face.

Based in part on Ayers’s testimony,

4. The Superior Court judge did not err judge concluded:

by using medical testimony from a
non-expert to establish a fact.

Kurzmann’s final argument on appeal is
that the VOP judge erred by relying on
medical testimony from a non-expert to
establish a fact upon which he based his
conclusion that Kurzmann assaulted his
wife. Kurzmann specifically refers to
James Ayers’s testimony. The relevant
testimony follows:

Q (prosecutor): So her [Lea’s]
explanation to you on [July 7th]
was that he did hit her with a
football accidentally, but that it
was during this continued
argument?

A (Ayers). Continued argument.

The other factor 1 relied upon [in
finding that Kurzmann assaulted
Lea], in addition to Williams’
testimony, is the nature of Lea’s
injuries. Lea had [¥719]

multiple points of trauma to her
face, including a black eye, a
busted lip, and a swollen cheek.

Jim Ayers, who observed these
injuries, testified that, in his
view, these injuries were
inconsistent in getting hit with a
football. T agree and conclude
that Lea’s injuries  were
consistent with an assault, but
not with a football hitting her.
(emphasis added).
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Kurzmann argues, first, that the trial
judge abused his discretion when he
relied on Ayers’s “expert” medical
testimony to establish multiple points
of trauma because “Ayers did not
testify to any prior experience in the
field of medicine” and was not
“competent to determine the cause of
a physical injury based on visual
representations.” Second, Kurzmann
contends, that the “evidence in this
case simply does not substantiate”
the VOP judge’s findings that Lea’s
injuries were [**42] the result of an
assault and were inconsistent with
getting hit by a football.

Kurzmann never objected to the
admissibility of Ayer’s  “medical
testimony,” nor did he attempt to explore
Ayer’s “medical opinion” that there was
more than “one blow or strike” on Lea’s
face during cross-examination.
Accordingly, we review the admission of
this testimony for plain error. “*HN7
”Plain error is limited to material defects
that are apparent on the face of the record
and that are basic, serious and
fundamental in their character, and which
clearly deprive an accused of a substantial
right, or which clearly show manifest
injustice.” “*>  Moreover, the error
complained of must be so clearly
prejudicial to substantial rights as to
jeopardize the fairness and integrity of the
trial process. *® The VOP judge did not
plainly err by relying on Ayer’s testimony

. that

that Lea appeared to have “more than one
blow or strike on her face.” Moreover, we
agree with the State that Ayers testimony
was not of the sort that required any
scientific, technical or other specialized
knowledge and thus was not “expert”
testimony. *’

Kurzmann’s second argument is more
troubling. When the VOP judge made his
findings of fact he noted that Ayers
testified that, “in his view, [Lea’s injuries]
were inconsistent in getting hit with a
football.” Ayers actually testified that it
seemed implausible that a good high
school athlete, who played softball and
caught balls could not have blocked a
football. Even though we are constrained
to conclude that Ayers’s testimony does
not support one sentence of the VOP
judge’s interpretation of the testimony,
does not require a reversal.
Immediately after insignificantly
misstating Ayer’s testimony, the VOP
judge noted that he agreed with what he
mistakenly thought was Ayers’s opinion
testimony: that Lea’s injuries-"multiple
points of trauma to her [**44] face,
including a black eye, a busted lip, and a
swollen cheek”-were inconsistent with
getting hit by a football. The VOP judge
was free to rely on Ayers’s un-objected-to
testimony to establish that there was more
than “one blow or strike on Lea’s face.”
From this testimony, the VOP judge could
have inferred and concluded that the
multiple points of trauma were

“ Del. Supr. Ct. R. 8.

45 Jones v. State, 2005 Del. LEXIS 328, *2 (Del. 2005) (quoting Wainwright v._State, 504 A.2d 1096, 1100 (Del.1986), cert.
denied, 479 U.S. 869, 93 L. Ed. 2d 161, 107 . Ct. 236 (1986)). (quotation omitted).

4 Wainwright, 504 A.2d at 1100.
47 SeeD.R.E. 701.
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inconsistent with getting hit by a football
-- despite the fact that he may have
incorrectly recalled Ayers’s testimony.

[*720] Even assuming for the sake of
argument that the VOP judge erroneously
relied upon Ayer’s testimony to conclude
that Lea’s injuries were inconsistent with
getting hit by a football, we are satisfied
that the record still supports the VOP
judge’s conclusion that Kurzmann
violated his probation. To justify his
finding that Kurzmann violated his
probation by assaulting Lea, the VOP
judge primarily relied upon Williams’s
testimony about Lea’s statements and
Lea’s demeanor at the time she entered
into the restaurant. He found that
Williams’s testimony was consistent with
the undisputed facts: (1) that Lea entered
the restaurant with fresh injuries; (2) that
Lea admitted to being angry with
Kurzmann at the time [**45] of the
alleged assault; and (3) that three days
after the assault Benton and Ayers
observed injuries that were consistent
with a physical assault. *® The VOP judge
also found that Lea’s statements to
Williams fell within hearsay exceptions
and were competent evidence to establish
the violation. Finally, the VOP judge
reasoned that he did not “think that Lea’s
getting hit accidentally with a football
would have caused her to behave as she
did in front of ... Williams. I do think
getting assaulted violently by Kurzmann
would produce that kind of behavior on
Lea’s part.” The VOP judge could have

stopped there. The finding that Lea’s
injuries were inconsistent with being hit
by a football was essentially superfluous.
The facts in the record and the foregoing
rationale constitute sufficient grounds for
the VOP judge’s conclusion that
Kurzmann violated his probation. The
“other factor” that the VOP judge relied
upon merely bolstered this conclusion. In
other words, even if the VOP judge’s
reliance on Ayer’s testimony about the
nature of Lea’s injuries was misplaced,
there is simply no reversible error in this
case.

[**46] Kurzmann also contends that he
was denied the minimum requirements of
due process because the evidence cited by
the trial judge “simply [did] not
substantiate his findings.” We have
concluded that Kurzmann is mistaken and
that the evidence cited by the VOP judge
did substantiate his findings. Thus, there
was no error. Again, even if we assume
that the VOP judge erred by
impermissibly relying upon the nature of
Lea’s injuries, there was still sufficient
evidence in the record to support the
conclusion that Kurzmann violated his
probation by assaulting Lea, entirely
independent of the VOP judge’s
conclusion that Lea’s injuries were
inconsistent with getting hit by a football.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment
of the Superior Court is AFFIRMED.

¥ It is important to note the distinction between Lea’s injuries being consistent with a physical assault and being inconsistent
with getting hit by a football. Even if Ayers’s testimony did not establish that Lea’s injuries were inconsistent with getting hit with
a football, Ayers’s, Benton’s, and Williams’s testimony clearly established that Lea's injuries -- a busted lip, a black eye, and a
swollen cheek -- were consistent with a physical assault, and the VOP judge could have so concluded.
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